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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) _ IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
: 018 May D :
COUNTY OF FLORENCE )7 PH 2 49
: e DORIS POULOS 0'HAzA
Sally K. Favaloro, —Coeh e a8
T ~ 'JT«I?HLa)COH i sc

Plaintiff,

vs. 'Case No.: 2017-CP-21-2331
' Rober’t'Colones', Ronald Boring,
Marie Segars, Debbie Locklair,
Shannon Carr, Michael Rose, and
McLeod Regional Medical Center,

X .

Defendgnt.’ :

) 5C Courtof gppey,

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS

THIS MATTER IS BEFORE THE COURT upon the Motlons to Dlsmlss ﬁled by
each of the Defendants in thls matter |

The Court has thoroughly reviewedr Plaintiff's Co‘m'plaint each of the Motions to
DlSI‘IllSS and Plaintiff’s ﬁlmgs In response and opposition to Defendants’ Motions to DlSIl’llSS
The Court held a heanng on Defendants’ Motions on Apnl 16, 2018, which Plalntlff willfully
failed to attend notmthstandmg clear notice of the hearing and her filing of pleadlngs opposing
the Motions in the Courthouse as the hearing took place. For the reasons set forth below, the‘
Court hereby GRANTS Defendants’ Motions and DISMISSES Plaintiffs’ Complaint, with
prejtldice.

L PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND PLAINTIFF’S WILLFUL FAILURE TO
ATTEND HEARING, NOTWITHSTANDING NOTICE THEREOF

Plaintiff filed her Complaint in this action on August 28, 2017. On October 17, 2017,
Defendant Dr. Michael Rose timely filed his Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs Complaint. On

November 16, 2017, the remaining Defendants (Robett Colones, Ronald Boring, Marie Segars,



Debbie Locklair, Shannon Carr, and McLeod Regional Medical Center (‘-‘McLeod”j) timely filed
their Motions to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint. o

On December 11 2017 the Court notrﬁed the partles that a hearlng on Defendants
Motrons was scheduled to-occur,on January 4, 2018 at 9:30 a.m.. Also on December 11 2017
counsel for Defendants notlﬁed Plamtrff in wntmg of the heanng s date and time.. The Court
was forced to reschedule the heanng due to 1nclement ‘weather, and counsel for Defendants
notified Plamtlff in wrrtmg of the cancellat1on |

On March 19 2018, the Court not1f1ed the parties that the heanng on Defendants
Motrons was rescheduled to occur on Aprrl 16, 2018, at 9: 30 a.m. Also on March 19 2018
counsel for Defendants notlﬁed Plaintiff in writing. of the date time, and locatlon for the
rescheduled hearing.

At 8:00 a.m. on April l6—the day of the heanng—Plarntrff sent Defendants counsel a
copy of (1) Plaintiff’s Response to Defendants Fllrngs Served October 17 and November 16,
2017, and (2) Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants’ Filings Served October 17
and November 16, 2017." Plaintiff’s e-mail to Defendants’ counsel acknowledged Plaintiff’s |
notice of the hearing, describing the documents as “relating to today’s hearing in this case.”

.The hearing proceeded as .scheduled on April 16, 2018, at 9:30 a.m. Notwithstanding
Plaintiff’s notice of the hearing, she willfully failed to appear for the hearing. During the
hearing, the court clerk informed the Court that (1) a male adult personally delivered the.
documents referenced above for filing that morning, (2) the male adult informed the clerk that

Plaintiff would not be appearing for the hearing and that he could not stay, (3) the clerk

! These documents, while captioned as a response and opposition to Defendants’® Motions, do not
actually respond to any of the arguments or address the legal deficiencies raised in Defendants’
Motions. Nowhere in either of these documents does Plaintiff explain why or how her claims are
viable or should be allowed to proceed. /\




encouraged Plamtlff and/or her representatwe to attend the hearing, and (4) the male adult
.relterated that Plalntlff would not be attending the heanng and that he could not stay
Accordlngly, the heanng proceeded in Plamtlff’s absence based on her willful failure to attend
| I FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff's actnal Complaint isv entirely devoid of faetual allegations regarding the basis
for her clairns againstv-D_et'"‘endants_.»‘ Leeking_td .the attachments to Plaintift’e Complaint—
| ‘confusing létters Plaintiff .penned—.the, Court believes the foIlowing are the “facts” in the light
most favorable to Plaintiff: |

* Defendant Rose was Plaintiff’s supervisor during her employment with McLeod (July
7, 2015 Letter at 3 of 8, ﬂ4(d) (“Dr. Rose . . . was, until April 30, 2Q15, a supervisor
over [Plaintiff].”)); o

* Rose participated in a meeting in which Plaintit‘f was placed on administrative leave
(July 7 2015 Letter at 4 of 8, 19 (“[Rose] then sat down, pointedly. av01d1ng eye
contact, spoke bneﬂy, then fixed direct eye contact at [Plalntlff] to make the
following statement: ‘I’m placing you on administrative leave.””));

* Plaintiff believes that Rose actually terminated her employment during the April 30,
2015 tneeting (July 7, 2015 Letter at 4 of 8 9 10 (“Dr. Rose was not placing
[Plaintiff] on administrative leave . . .. Instead, he was terminating [Plaintiff].”));

* Rose was not Plaintiff’s employer (July 7, 2015 Letter at 7 of 8, §25(d) (“A non-
employer, as in Dr. Rose on May 5, cannot terminate or professionally evaluate a
non-employee, as in Sally Favaldto.”));

* Plaintiff contends that the termination of her employment was “wrongful fand] was

an egregious Policy violation.” (July 21, 2015 Letter at 2 of 8, 1 (5)(c)); and

D%/,zé




Plaintiff contends that there are “highly suspicious documents” in her personnel file at

McLeod Health (July 31, 2015 Letter).

These are the only salient facts asserted Beyond these, Plaintiff states legal clalms opinions,

and conclusrons w1th no factual underpmnlng

Slgmﬁcantly, the Complalnt is dev01d of any meaningful' references to and/or factual

allegations agalnst most of the Defendants Scourlng Plalntlft’s Complamt

-There 1s only 1 reference to Defendant Robert Colones:

o " The ‘Vague' contention ‘on Page 3 of 3 of Plaintiff’s first attachment to the

Complaint (“AVP Summary — Reading Time: 15 Minutes™) that Colones needed
to provide prior approval for the alleged termination of Plaintiff’sremployment.
There are 'Q factual allegations re_lated, to Defendant Ronald , Boring. The only
reference to Boﬁng anywhere in the Complaint is his identification as the recipient of
a letter Plaintit‘f sent on-September_ 10, 2015, in an apparent attempt to challenge her
alleged “wrongfnl termination”.rn'onths after her separation from employment with

McLeod Health.

There are only 2 references to Deferidant Marie Segars:

o The conclusory allegation in Paragraph 105.7 (Plaintiff’s Claim 5.7 for criminal
conspiracy) that Segars “performed one or more acts in furtherance of the results
described in Claims 1, 2, and 5.1 —- 10” and

o The vague contention on Page 3 of 3 of Plaintiff's first attachment to the

| Complaint (‘AVP Summary — Reading Time: 15 Minutes™) that Segars needed to
provide prior approval for the alleged termination of Plaintiff’s employment.

There are only 2 references to Defendant Debbie Locklair;
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o The conclusory all‘egation in Paragraph 105.7 (Plaintiff’s Ctairn 5.7 for. criminel
| conspirélcy)"that'Locklair “performe'd one or more acts in furtherance of the
results deseribed in Claims 1, 2, and 5.1 - 107 and

o The contentlons on Pages 6 7 of 9 of. Plarntrffs September 10 2015 letter'
(attached to the Complaint)- that Locklair (as Chalrperson of a Commrttee that
considered Plalntlff’ S post- separatron internal appeal) sent a letter rejecting

: Plamtrff’s post-separatlon 1nterna1 appeal the accuracy of Wthh Plarntrff drsputes
(Sept 10, 2015 Letter at 6 of 9 (“In [Locklarr s] letter [reJectlng Plamtrff’s
appeal], Locklarr: (a) falsely claimed to be “Chairperson” of the August 20
Review Team; and (b) falsely denied the fact that the Review Teanr found that Dr.
Rose’s AVP termination v101ated McLeod pohcres ”); id. at 7 of 9 (“[Locklalr s]
letter’s multiple oddrtles prohrblt [the] letter itself from being taken seriously. ).

° There are only 3 references to Defendant Shannon Carr:

o The conclusory allegation in Paragraph 105.7 (Plaintiff’s Claim 5.7 for criminal
conspiracy) that Carr “performed one or more acts in furtherance of the results
described in Claims 1, 2, and 5.1 — 10”;

o The references to Carr (in her Human Resources capacity) attending anct
participating in the April 30, 2015 meeting et which Plaintiff was placed on
administrative leave (July 7, 2015 Letter at 4-6 of 8; Sept. 10, 2015 Letter at 2 of »
9); and |

o The allegations regarding Carr arranging Plaintiff’s internal post-separation

appeal process (Sept. 10, 2015 Letter at 2 of 9 & 6 of 9).



1. Claim 5.2: S.C. Code § 16 13-30 — Larceny (“Claim 5. 2”?) —- Agamst Defendants Rose
and McLeod ‘

Claim 52 alleges a claim for “larceny, apparently based on the same contentions as

Claim 2. Claim 52 agalnst McLeod farls based on the followrng 1) there is no pnvate nght of

action under section 16 13-30 of the South Carohna Code, as it is a purely criminal statute; )

(2) Plaintiff does not allege any facts 1ndrcat1ng that Rose or McLeod hold or have control over
Plalntiff’s alleged property or. otherwrse engaged in any conduct that could even potentially be
con51dered “larceny and (3) Claim 5.2 is duphcative of Claim 2. Claim 5.2 falls to state facts

sufficient to constltute a cause of action and is dlsmissed

J. Clalm 5.3: S C. Code §. 16 13-10 — Forgery (“Clalm 5.3 — Against Defendants
~ Locklair, Rose, and McLeod ‘ _

Claim 5.3 pursués a cause.of action for “forgery” and vaguely lists various documents
(many of which are the letters Plaintiff wrote herself and attaches to her Complaint, and the
others of ‘whjch appear to be McLeod employment/personnel records). Claim 5.3 is subject'to
dismissal for at least three reasons: ) there is no private right of action under section 16-13-10
of the South Carolina Code, as it isa purely criminal statute; (2) Plaintiff does not identify any
actions by Locklair that could even potentially constitute “forgery”—the only document
connected to Locklair is her August 20 letter rejecting Plaintiff’s i_nternal post-separation appeal
(with which Plaintiff apparently disagrees), and potentially the “highly suspicious” documents in
her personnel file (the author/creator of which Plaintiff acknowledges she is not aware in
paragraph 4 of her July 31, 2015 letter attached fo the Complaint—“to protect the Review Team
from being deceived by Dr. Rose or whoever is responsible for adding these highly suspicious
pages to my HR file” (emphasis added)); (3) the only documents purportedly connected to Rose
are his May 5 letter (which paragraph 25 of Plaintiff’s July 7, 2015 Letter attached to the

Complaint simply references as allegedly “null and void”) and the “highly suspicious”



documents.in her personnel file (the author/creator of which Plaintiff acknoyvledges she is not
aware) none of Wthh 1ndlcate any plau51ble “forgery” on Rose’s part; (4) none of the
documents purportedly connected to McLeod 1nd1cate any plaus1ble “forgery on McLeod’
part—Rose’s. May 5 Ietter Debble Locklalr s August 20 letter, and the “highly susp1c1ous
documents in her personnel ﬁle (the author/creator of which Plalntlff acknowledges she is not
aware); and (5) there -are no facts in. the Complamt allegmg that McLeod Locklalr (in her
1nd1v1dual capac1ty) or Rose (in his 1nd1v1dual capacity) comm1tted the supposed violation.
Clalm 5.3 is dismissed accordlngly. |

K. Claim 5.4: S.C. Coder § 16-7-150 — Slander and Libel (“Claim 5.4”) — Against
Defendants Segars, Locklair, Rose, and McLeod

Claim 5.4 purports to state a claim for “slander and libel” but references the section of the
‘South Carolina . Code _‘involving criminal slander and libel. Claim 5.4 fails based on the
following: (1) there is no private right of action under section 16-7-150 of the South Carolina
-Code, as it is a purely crlminal statute—the text of the statute expressly differentiates itself from
“an action for damages for libel or slander under the existing law”; (2) Plaintiff has not alleged
with any degree of specificity facts sufficient to identify the allegedly defarnatory statement,
how/when/to whom the allegedly defamatory statement was published,-how Segars, Locklair,
Rose, or McLeod were involved in the unidentified publication, or how Plaintiff was allegedly
harmed by the supposed defamatory statement; (3) if Plaintiff is relying on the “highly
suspicious” documents in her personnel file, Paragraph 4 of her July 31, 2015 letter attached to
the Complaint makes clear that Plaintiff does not know the author/publisher of those vaguely
described documents—*“to protect the Review Team from being deceived by Dr. Rose g

whoever is responsible for adding these highly suspicious pages to my HR file” (emphasis

N

added)); (4) there are no facts in the Complaint alleging that Locklair, Segars, or Rose, in their.

L
14 /, //%



individual cépacitieé, made thé allegedly defamatory statement; (5) there are noAfacts in the
Clompl'aint alleging that McLeod, or any of its agents, made the allegedly defamatory statement;
and (6) a common law cause of action for libel or -slaﬁder must be bréught within 2 yearé of the
date on which the-alleged defamatpw statefﬁent was made, andb all alleged stateﬁients fhe Court
is able to ‘discem.from the Cqmplaint occurred more than 2'yearsvbefrore filing, SC Code Ann §

15-3-550.* Therefore, Claim 5.4 s dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6).

L. Claim.5.5: S.C. Code § 41-15-510 — Retaliation (“Claim 5.5”) — Against Defendhnts
Segars, Rose, and McLeod ' o ' .

Claim 5.5 contends that 'Defendahts “retaliated and discriminated against Plaintiff”.
because she allegedly “challenged Défendants’ mi_s?:onduct.” Claim 5.5 is allegedly based on
S.C. Code Ann. § 41-15-510, which p‘rohibits “discharge or . . ..discriminat[ion]” against an
employee who engages in protected activfty “relating to statﬁtes, rules or regulations regarding
éccupationél safety and health.” Claim 5.5 is facially deficient because: (1) Plaintiff has not
alleged any facts showing that she eﬁgaged in any protected activity under any “Statutes, rules or
regulations regarding occupationél safety and health”; (2) Piaintiff has ﬂot fulﬁlléd fhe
conditions precedent to an action for a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 41-15-510, which require
an employee, “within thirty days after the violation occurs, [to] ﬁie a complaint with the Director
of the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation alleging the discrimination,” S.C. Code
Ann. § 41-15-520; (3) section 41-15-520 limits actions for alleged violations of section 41-15-

510 against private sector employees to those brought by the Director of the DLLR; (4) Plaintiff

has not alleged any facts that would establish an employment relationship with Segars or Rose;

* To the extent Plaintiff is contending that Rose’s May 5 letter or Locklair’s August 20 letter
(neither of which are attached to the Complaint and are not described with any degree of
particularity) are defamatory, McLeod contends that those letters would be subject to a privilege
as a matter of law and that Plaintiff has alleged no facts indicating even a plausible ability to

overcome the privilege. o
ot
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5) Plai_htiff admits that Rose was net 'hel employer'(July 7, 2015 Letter at 7 ol’ 8, 125(d) (“A
non-employer, as in Dr. Rose on May 5, calmot terminate_ or professionally evaluate a non-
employee, as in Sally Favaloro. ”)) and (6) Plalntlff does not allege facts 1nd1cat1ng that
Segars or. Rose, in the1r individual capac1t1es dlscnmmated agamst or d1scharged her. Claim 5.5

is d1sm1ssed accordmgly

M. Clalm 5.6: SC Code 8 1-13-80 (F) — Dlscrlmmatlon (“Clalm 56”) — gamst
Defendants Segars. Rose, and Mc¢Leod - .

Cla1m 5.6 alleges discrimination under the South .Carolina Human Affalrs Law Claim

5.6 agamst fails as'a matter of law based on the following: (1) Plaintiff failed to exhaust herv
administrative remedies under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-13-90, having never filed a charge with the
South Carolina Human Affairs Commission; (2) Claim 5.6 is extremely untimely under section
1-13-90, with her Complaint filed on August 28, 2017—nearly two years after the applicable
180-day statute of limitations had expired; (3) Plaintiff failed to bring the ac_tien within one year
of the wrongful acts oeeurring, pursuant to §1-13-90(d)(6); (4) Plaintiff has not identified a
single protected characteristic on which Claim 5.6 is based; (5) Plaintiff has not alleged any facts
that would establish an employment relationship with Segars or Rose; (6) Pla1nt1ff states that
Rose was not her-employer (July 7, 2015 Letter at 7 of 8, §25(d) (“A non-employer, as in Dr.
Rose on May 5, cannot terminate or professionally evaluate a non-employee, as in Sally
Favaloro.”)); (7) Plaintiff does not allege any facts indicating that Segars er‘ Rose, in their
individual capacities, unlawfully discriminated against her; and (8) Plaintiff does not allege any
facts indicating that McLeod, or any of its agents, unlawfully discriminated against her based on

any protected characteristic. Claim 5.5 is subject to dismissal as a matter of law.

op
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N. Claim 5.7: S.C. Code §16-17-410 — Corrsniracv (“Claim 5.7”) — Against Defendants
Segars, Locklair, Carr, Rose, and McLeod

Claim 5.7 cohtends ‘that . four individual defendants conspired with McLeod Health in

violation of S C Code .— 17_410 Claim 5.4 fails based on the following; (1) there is no

private nght of action und ‘section 16-17-410 of the South Carohna Code, as it is a purely

criminal statute; (2) there are no facts in the Complamt alleging that any of the 1nd1v1duals in

NS ywu'

therr individual capaCIty, engaged in the vaguely alleged consp1racy, and (3) consplracy requlres
the corhbr‘nahon of two or more persons to conspire together for the purpose of aecomplishing an.
unlawful objective or lowful objective by unlawful means, all of the alleged conspirators appeér
to be agents of McLeod Heal‘th, there is no allegation that any of the individuals were acting
outside of their écope of employment, and a party cannot conspire with itself (which is precisely
what McLeod would allegedly be-doing if its agents were conspiring with each other within the
scope of their employment), McMillan v. Oconee Mem'’l Hosp., Inc., 367 S.C. 559, 564, 626
S.E.2d 884, 887 (2006) (“tW]e believe that it is well settled that a corporation cannot conspire
with itself.’f); id (“[Algents for a corporation acting in the scope of their duties cannot conspire
with the corporation absent the guilty knowledge of a third party.” (citing Goble v. Am Ry.
Express Co., et. al, 124 S.C. 19, 26-27, 115 S.E. 900, 903 (1923))). Therefore, Claim 5.7 is
dismissed..

0. Claim S.8: S.C. Reg. 61-16 § 505 B, D, E — Illegal Treatment of Nurses (“Claim 5.8”)
— Against Defendants Carr, Rose, and McLeod

Claim 5.8 purports to be a claim based on the Department of Health and Environmental
Control (“DHEC”) regulations regarding nursing services. The specific regulations cited require
(a) a hospital to have 24-hour nursing service under the direction of a registered nurse with
nurses licensed in the state of South Carolina, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-16 § 505(B); (b)a

hospital to employ other personnel to assist registered nurses in providing care, assigned based

5
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on education, training and cornpet'e.nce, zd § 505(D); and (c) a hospital’s nursing personnel to be
under the supervision of nursing leadership and subject to the policies and.procedures of tlie
facility, id. § 505(E). Claim 5.8 must be dismissed because: A(l) there is no private right of action
under the cited regulations; (2) Plaintlff has not alleged any facts that would establish .an
employment relationshlp w1th Carr or Rose; (3) Plaintiff states that Rose was not her employer
(July 7, 2015 Letter at 7 of 8, §25(d). (“A non—employer, as in Dr ’Rose.on May 5, cannot
terminate or professi_onally evali1ate a non-employee, as in Sally Favaloro.”)); (4) Plaintiff does
notallege any facts indicating that Carr or Rose, personally or 1n their-indiVidual capacities,
failed to comply with the cited regulations; (5) Plaintiff does not allege any facts indicating that
McLeod failed to comply with the cited regulations; and (6) the Complaint contains no factual
allegations regarding how any of the Defendants in any way violated the cited regulations.
Claim 5.8 is disniissed accordingly.

P. Claim 5.9: S.C. Reg. 61-16 § 506 A, C — Illegal Hospital Records Practices (“Claim
5.9”) — Against Defendants Locklair, Carr, Rose, and McLeod ’ :

Like Claim 5.8, Claim 5.9 is based exclusively on DHEC regulations regarding
healthcare facilities in South Carolina. The specific regulations cited require (a) the CEO of the
facility to designate an individual to conduct Human Resources Management and be responsible
for various Human Resources functions, S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-16 § 506(A); and (b) the
licensee of a healthcare facility to maintain certain personnel records, id. § 506(C). Claim 5.9
fails for the same reasons that Claim 5.8 fails: (1) there is no private right of action under the
cited regiilations; (2) Plaintiff has not alleged any facts that would establish an employment
relationship with any of the individual Defendants; (3) Plaintiff states that Rose was not her
employer (July 7, 2015 Letter at 7 of 8, §25(d) (“A non-employer, as in Dr. Rose on May 35,

cannot terminate or professionally evaluate a non-employee, as in Sally Favaloro.”)); (4) Plaintiff

Vs
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daés not allege any facts indicating that McLeod or any of the individual Defendants (personally,
inv their individual 'capacities or 'otherwise)v-are “licensees™ covered by the regulatlons
) Plamtlff has in no way alleged that McLeod or any of the 1nd1v1dua1 Defendants (personally,
in the1r 1nd1v1dua1 capacmes or otherw1se) falled to. comply w1th the cned regulatlons and
(6) the Complalnt contains no factual-allegatlonS'regardlng how anyof the ’Defendants in any

way v1olated the cited regulatlons Claim 5.9 i thus subJect to dlsmlssal asa matter of law

Q. 'Clalm 5.10; State v. Carson, 274 S.C. 316 (1980) Mlsprlsmn of Felony (“Clalm S. 10”1 ..
: = Agamst all Defendant :

Claim 5.10 claims that -all of the Defendants committed the crime of misprision of a
felony by not remedying‘the previo_us vaguely alleged criminai actions. Claim 5.10 must be
dismissed because: (1) there is no private right of actien for misprision of a feleny, asitis a
purely criminal matter—the case Plaintiff cites 1nvolves a cnmlnal prosecution by the State, and

has nothing to do w1th a c1v11 right of action; and (2) there are no facts in the Complalnt allegmg

that McLeod or any of the individual Defendants (personally,‘ in their 1nd1_v1dual capa01t1es, or -

‘otherwise) engaged in the purported violation of the law. Rule 12(b)(6) mandates dismissal of

Claim 5.10.

R. Claim S.11: 18 U.S.C. § 4 — Misprision of Felony (“Claim 5. 11”) Against all
Defendants

Claim 5.11 is identical to Claim 5.10 (even citing only to Claim 5.10 as the basis for the
~claim), but felies on a federal criminal statute instead of a South Carolina judicial opinion.
Claim 5.11 is equally deficient to Claim 5:10: (1) there is no private right of action for misprision
of a felony, as it is a purely criminal matter—the statute specifically references criminal penalties
and makes no mention of an available civil claim; (2) there are no facts in the Complaint alleging
that McLeod or any of the individual Defendants (personally, in their individual capacities, or

N }/Z
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otherwise) violated the federal .statutei and (3) Claim 5.11 is entirely duplicative of Claim 5.10.

Claim 5.11 is dismissed accordingly

!

S. ' Claim 3. 12 18 U.S. C § 1512(b) (c) — Wltness and Evndence Tamperin ng (“Clalm
5___ ”L— Agamst Defendants Carr, Rose, and McLeod ,

'Clalm 5.12 alleges a violation of 18 U S.C.'§ 1512 wh1ch is a federal criminal statute‘
related to [t]amperlng with a. witness, victim, or an 1nformant - as made clear by the official
name of the statute lee the rest of Plalntlff’s clalms Clatm 5‘ 12 is subject to lmmedlate
dismissal: (1) there is no private nght of action under 18 U. S C § 1512 as 1t isa cnmlnal statute
that does not create or even contemplate any civil remedles; ) there are no facts in the
Complaint alleging that McLeod or the individual Defendants (personally, Ain their individual
capacities, or otherwtse)'violated the statute; and (3) there are no factual allegations in the
Complaint beyond Plaintiff’s conclusory cotltentioas that any of the Defendatlts have violated
the statute. Claim 5.12 is dismissed.

T. Clalm 5.13: Occu _patlonal Safety and Health Act of 1970 S ll(c) — Retaliation
(“Claim 5.13”) — Against Defendants Rose and McLeod

-

Identical to Claim 5.5 (even relying excluswely on C1a1m 5.5 as supposed support),
Clalm 5.13 contends with no explanation, that Rose and McLeod somehow. retaliated against
Plaintiff in violation of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act. Claim 5.13 is facially
deficient for the same reasons as Claim 5.5: (1) Plaintiff has not alleged any facts showing that
she engaged in any protected activity “under or related to” the federal Occupational Safety and
‘Health Act, 29 US.C. § 660(c); (2) Plaintiff has not fulfilled the conditions precedent to an
action for a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 660(c), which require an employee, “within thirty days after
[an alleged] violation occurs, [to] file a complaint with the Secretary [of Labor] alleging such
discrimination”; (3). 18 U.S.C. § 660(c) limits actions for alleged violations of the section td

those brought by the Secretary of Labor, and there is no private right of action; (4) Plaintiff



admits that Rose was not her employer (July 7, 2015 Letter at 7 of 8, | 25(d) (‘;A non-employer,
asin Dr. Rose :on May 5, cannot terminate or 'prefessionally evaluate a non-employee, as in Sally
Favaloro.’i)); S) Plaintiff ‘has not alleged any facts that would establish an employment
relationship between Rose and Plaintiff; and (6) Plaintiff does not allege facts 1nd1cat1ng that
Rose, in his individual eapa01ty, discriminated against or discharged her., Claim 5.13 is

dismissed aceoidingly

U. | Clalm 6: Nnggence ( “Clalm 6”) Agamst Defendants Rose and McLeo

Claim 6 alleges that Rose and McLeod were - somehow negligent through the “termination
of, and refusal to reinstate, Plaintiff.” While the claim is captioned as one for “negligence,” the
elements Plaintiff lists suggest Plaintiff is attempting to set forth a claim .for ‘negligent
' misiepresentation. Both claims fail as a matter of law: (1) based on the exclusivity provision of
the South Carolina Workers’ 'Coinpensation Act, an eniployee_ is disallowed from maintaining “a
negligence cause of action against his direct. employer or his. statutory employer,” Edens v |
Bellini, 359 S.C. 433, 445, 597 S.E.2d 863, 869 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Neese v. Michelin Tire
Corp., 324 S.C. 465, 478 S.E.2d 91 (Ct. App. l-996), ovei‘ruled on other grozlnds by Abbott v.
The Limited, Inc., 338 S.C. 161, 526 S.E.2d 513 (2000)); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-540
(explaining that the “rights and remedies” of the Act “shall exclude all other rights and remedies
of such employee . . . , at common law or otherwise, on account of” any work-related accident or
injury, ineluding alleged negligence in the workplace); (2) Plaintiff does not allege any facts
indicating that McLeod owed Plaintiff any alleged duty, breached the unidentified and
nonexistent dlity, or made any false representation; (3) there are no facts in the Complaint that
would even potentially establish a duty that Rose, personally or in his individual capacity, owed

to Plaintiff; (4) Plaintiff states that Rose was not her employer (July 7, 2015 Letter at 7 of 8,



q ZS(d) (“A non-employer, as in Dr. Rose on May 5, cannot terminate or professionally evaluate
a non-employee, as in ‘Sally Favaloro. ”)) (5) Plaintiff has not alleged any facts that would
estabhsh an employment relatlonship between Rose and Plaintiff; (6) Pla1nt1ff does not- allege
any facts 1ndlcat1ng that Rose in h1s 1nd1v1dual capacrty, breached any alleged duty or made any
false representatlon and (7) Plaintiff has not alleged any facts that would establish her justifiable
reliance on any alleged misrepresentatlon Thus the Court dism1sses Claim 6

V. Claim 7 Breach of Contract (“Clalm 7”) Agalnst Defendant McLeod

Plarnt1ffs Claim -7 for breach of contract against McLeod is based on unspecified
“Policres and ‘Procedures,” which Plaintiff contends McLeod violated “by terminating her
employment and refusing to reinstate her.” Plaintiff has not identiﬁed—with any degree of
speciﬁcity—what alleged policies or procedures created contractual obligations hovy the
supposed contractual obligations were created, or how McLeod breached the alleged

obligations.’

ThlS 1s far from sufﬁc1ent to state a plausible claim for breach of contract,
mandating dismissal of Claim 7 as a matter of law.

W. Claim 8: Fraud (“Claim 8”) — Against Defendants Rose and McLeod

Claim 8 alleges Rose and McLeod: committed fraud through the “termination of, and
refusal to reinstate, Plaintiff.” Claim 8 must be dismissed because: (1) the Complaint does not
comply with Rule 9(b), SCRCP—which plainly requires that all “averments of fraud . . . shall be
stated with particularity”—as Plaintiff has not clearly identified the supposed representation or
alleged any facts plausibly showing how or why it was false, the materiality of the

representation, Defendants’ knowledge of the falsity or reckless disregard of truth or falsity,

3 To the extent Plaintiff is relying on McLeod’s employee handbook—which the Court cannot
determine based on the factually deficient nature of Plaintiff's Complaint—McLeod argues that
the handbook contains a clear and conspicuous disclaimer that would preclude contractual

obligations as a matter of law. )
Y.
/)444

7%



Defende.nts’ intent that Plaintiff act on the representation, Plaintiff’s lgnorarlce of the felsity,
Plaintiff’s reliance on its truth, Plaintifl’s right to rely thereon, or Plaintiff’s consequent and
prox1mate injury; and (2) Plamtlff does not allege any facts indicating that McLeod or Rose (in
his 1nd1v1dual capac1ty) made any false representanon or engaged in conduct that-would satisfy
the remaining 8 elements of a clalm for fraud. Claim 8 is dismissed accordingly.

X. Clalm 9. Defamatlon ( “Clalm 9”) Agamst Defendants Rose and McLeod

Pla1nt1ff’ S Cla1m 9 alleges a cause of action for defamat1on agamst Rose and McLeod,
relying entirely on the same “facts” that purportedly support her claim for “forgery.” Claim 9
fails for the same reason that Claim 5.4 falls: (1) Plaintiff has not allegea with any degree of
specificity facts sufﬁciellt to identify the allegedly defamatory statement (as required by Rule
9(h), SCRCP), how/when/to whom the allegedly defamatery statement was published, how
McLeod was invelved in the unidentiﬁed publication, or how she was allegedly harmed by the
supposed defamatory statement; (2) if Plaintiff is relyirig on the “highly susplcious” documents
in her personnel file, paraglaph 4 of her July 31, 2015 letter attached to the Complaint makes
clear that Plaintiff does not know the author/publisher ef those vaguely described documents—

“to protect the Review Team from being deceived by Dr. Rose or whoever is responsible for

adding these highly suspicious pages to my HR file” (emphasis added)); (3) there are no facts in

the Complaint alleging that Rose (in his individual capacity), McLeod, or any of McLeod’s
agents made the allegedly defamatory statement; and (4) a common law cause of aclion for libel
or slander must be bfought within 2 years of the date on which the alleged defamatory statement

was made, S.C. Code Ann. § 1.5-3-550, and the only alleged statements the Court can discern
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from the Cdmplaint occurred more than 2 years before filing.® Therefore, Claim 9 is dismissed
under Rule 12(b)(6).

Y. Claim 10: Commo ~-Against Defendants Rose and

McLe_od '

n Law Conspiracy.

Claim 10‘ simply refers to Claim 5.7:, appa.rentiy attéthbﬁng t6 élleéeyt‘hévl‘{ Rose—an agent

of McLeod Health—conspired with McLeod Health. . Claim 10 fails just like Claim 5.7: (1) there

e L
'~ ERLE

are no facts in thg Complvaint alleging thatﬁbée (in hls”i;ldlwdu;l—ca;p;mty) or.McLeod en'gaged
in the vaguely alleged corlxs‘piracy;vand (2) conspiracy requires the cémbina?ii:(.)--rl‘ 5f two or more
persons-to conspire together for the purpose of accomplishing an unlawful objective or lawful
objective by unlawfui means, Rose is an agent of McLéod Health, there is no allegation that
Rose was acting outside of his écope of employment, and a party cannot conspire with itself
(which is precisely what McLeod woﬁld allegedly be doing if Rose conspired with McLeod
within the scope.of his employment), McMillan, 367 S.C. at 564, A626 S.E.2d at 887 (“[W]e
believe that it is well settlled.that a corpération cannot conspire with itself.”); id (“[A]gents for a
corporation acting ih the scope of their duties cannot conspire with the corporation absent the
guilty knowledge of a third party.” (citing Goble, 124 S.C. at 26-27, 115 S.E. at 903)).
Therefore, Claim 10 is dismissed. |

—

Z. Claim 11: Costs, Attorney’s Fees, and Related Non-Taxable Expenses — Against
Defendant McLeod

Claim 11 does not actually assert a claim, but reiterates Plaintiff’s claims under Claims 1

through 10. Accordingly, Claim 11 is dismissed for the same reasons as Claims 1 through 10.

¢ To the extent Plaintiff is contending that Rose’s May 5 letter or Locklair’s August 20 letter
(neither of which are attached to the Complaint and are not described with any degree of
particularity) are defamatory, McLeod contends that those letters would be subject to a privilege
as a matter of law and that Plaintiff has alleged no facts indicating even a plausible ability to

overcome the privilege. : 7;(}/5 7/ /l é’
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V. CONCLUSION

Of the 24 “claims” against McLeod and the individual Defendants, there are recurring

deficiencies that mandate dismissal as a matter of law:

e 7 are based on criminal statutes dr holdings that have no pritzate or civil right of
action (Claims 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 5.7, 5.10, 5.11, and 5.12);
* 4 are based on statutes under which Plaintiff has not complied with the conditions
precedent (Claims 2, 5.5, 5.6, and 5.13); .
* 3 are based on statutes under which Plaintiff’s claims are untimely, placing aside
the absence of a private right of action under the statutes (Claims 5.5, 5.6, and
5.13);
e 2 others are untimely under the applicable statute of limitations (Claims 5.4 and
o | |
e 5 are based on non-criminal statutes, rules, or regulations that contain no private .
right of action (Claims 4, 5.8, 5.9, and 5.13);
e 2 request that the Court compel speech-in violation of the First Amendment
(Claims 3.2 and 4); and
' All are duplicative of other claims and rely on entirely circular reasoning that is
devoid of plausible facts. |
While the Court is eblig.ated to libetally corlstrue Plalntifl” s pro se Complaint evell the tnost
‘hberal construction cannot overcome the obvious and controllmg deficiencies in her cla1ms

Plamtlff has made a litany of 1rrelevant unsupported and conclusory allegatlons against McLeod

and the individual Defendants that appear to be for the sole purpose of embarrassmg and

harassmg McLeod and its agents Th1s is precisely the scenario under whlch Courts are called to



apply Rule 12(b)(6) and dismiss claims that have no basis in fact and set forth no plausible
entitlement to relief.

For all of the reasons set forth above, IT IS ORDERED that, Defendants’ Motions to

Dismiss are hereby GRANTED pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil

Procedure, and Plaintiff’s Complaint is hereby DISMISSED, with prejudice, this 7 of
//%// ,2018.

Do

THE HONORABEE D. CRAIG BROWN
SOUTH CAROLINA CIRCUIT JUDGE
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